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Plaintiff Jessica Blum (“Plaintiff’), on behalf of herself and all others similarly
situated, brings this class action complaint against Defendants Wondershare
Technology Group Co., Ltd, Wondershare Technology Co., Ltd., Wondershare
Global Limited, Vbroadcast Co., Ltd., Wonson Global Enterprises, Inc., Wondershare
Technology Group Co., Limited, Wondershare Technology Inc., Wondershare
Software Co., Ltd., Smartzen Limited, and Shenzhen Wondershare Information
Technology Co., Ltd., (collectively, “Defendant”!) based on violations of California’s
Automatic Renewal Law (“ARL”). Plaintiff makes the following allegations based on
her personal knowledge, and upon the information, investigation and belief of her

counsel.

INTRODUCTION

l. This class action seeks to challenge Defendant’s deceptive enrollment of
unwary consumers into Defendant’s auto-renewal payment plan, in violation of Cal.
Bus. & Prof. Code § 17600, ef seq., for Defendant’s various products it offers, such
as the video editing software Filmora (collectively, the “Products”).

2. Defendant, by and through its numerous entities and as detailed further
in Paragraphs 10 through 18, is a software product developer who offers subscriptions

to its software services and products on its website, www.wondershare.com.

Defendant provides numerous products on its website, including film and
photography editing services, data management, PDF management, graphics creation,
and artificial intelligence (“AI”) products. It is unclear how many people use
Defendant’s Products, but it is estimated to be more than a hundred thousand
California subscribers, with an estimated annual revenue of $100 million dollars,

largely fueled by the auto-renewals as explained herein.

! Defendants are part of the same corporate family of companies and are thus referred to as
a singular defendant.
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3. Defendant uses this renewal scheme to lure customers in and trap them
in an automatically renewing payment plan without disclosing to prospective
consumers, as required by California law, essential facts concerning the nature of the
payment.

4. Plaintiff and other consumers have been deceived by Defendant’s
actions, and consequently have been deceived into signing up for an automatically
recurring payment plan.

3. Had Plaintiff and Class members been aware that Defendant charged
them on an automatically renewing basis, Plaintiff and Class members would not have
purchased the Product subscriptions. Accordingly, Plaintiff and Class members have

been injured by Defendant’s deceptive business practices.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to the Class Action
Fairness Act of 2005, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2), because this is a class action filed under
Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, there are thousands of proposed Class
members, the aggregate amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000 exclusive of
interest and costs, and Defendant is a citizen of a state different from at least some
members of the proposed Class, including Plaintiff.

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant
has sufficient minimum contacts in California, or otherwise intentionally availed itself
of the markets within California, through its marketing and sale of its Products in
California and to California consumers.

8. Venue is proper in this judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to
Plaintiff’s claims occurred in this District. Specifically, Plaintiff purchased the

Filmora subscription in this District.

R
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THE PARTIES
9. Plaintiff Jessica Blum is a citizen of the United States and the State of

California. In or around October 2022, Plaintiff, a resident of Los Angeles, California,
subscribed to Defendant’s product known as “Filmora,” a video editing software.
Defendant is a major provider for video and photography editing products.
Unbeknownst to Plaintiff, and without giving a clear and conspicuous notice of the
renewal terms, length, and cancellation policy, Defendant enrolled Plaintiff in a
continuous service or automatic renewal service and charged Plaintiff, without her
consent, on a monthly basis from November 2022 to March 2023. Had Plaintiff
known she was being enrolled in an automatic renewal service, she would not have
subscribed to the Filmora product. Therefore, Plaintiff suffered injury in fact and lost
money as a result of Defendant’s misleading, false, unfair, and deceptive practices, as
described herein.

10. Defendant Wondershare Technology Group Co., Ltd., is a Chinese
corporation, with a place of business in Shenzhen, China and/or Burnaby, British
Columbia, Canada.

11. Defendant Wondershare Technology Co., Ltd., is a Chinese corporation
with its principal place of business in Hong Kong, China.

12.  Defendant Wondershare Global Limited is a Chinese corporation with a
place of business in Hong Kong, China and/or Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada.

13. Defendant Vbroadcast Co., Ltd., is a Delaware corporation with its
principal place of business in Delaware.

14. Defendant Wonson Global Enterprises, Inc., is a Canadian corporation
with its principal place of business in Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada.

15. Defendant Wondershare Technology Inc. is a Canadian corporation,

with its principal place of business in Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada.

3.
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16. Defendant Wondershare Software Co., Ltd., is a Chinese corporation,
with a place of business in Shenzhen, China and/or Burnaby, British Columbia,
Canada.

17. Defendant Smartzen Limited is a Chinese corporation with its principal
place of business in Hong Kong, China.

18.  Defendant Shenzhen Wondershare Information Technology Co., Ltd., is
a Chinese corporation with its principal place of business in Shenzhen, China.

19. The allegations contained herein are asserted against the above
defendants jointly, severally, or in the alternative. These defendants are part of the
same corporate family of companies, and are each directly, contributorily and/or
vicariously liable, and/or liable by way of inducement, for the misconduct as
described herein. For purposes of simplicity, they will be referred to collectively as

“Defendant.”

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

A. Defendant Has Violated California’s ARL by Failing to Present Its
Subscription Terms in a Clear and Conspicuous Manner

20. California’s ARL makes it illegal for companies to charge consumers for
automatically renewing subscriptions or services unless the company meets strict
disclosure requirements. This includes both pre-purchase and post-purchase
disclosures. The ARL makes it unlawful for any business making an automatic
renewal offer to consumers in California to “[f]ail to present the automatic renewal
offer terms or continuous service offer terms in a clear and conspicuous manner before
the subscription or purchasing agreement is fulfilled and in visual proximity...to the
request for consent to the offer.”

21. The ARL defines “automatic renewal offer terms” to mean:

a. That the subscription or purchasing agreement will continue until the

consumer cancels (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17601(b)(1));
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b. The description of the cancellation policy that applies to the offer

(Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17601(b)(2));

. The recurring charges that will be charged to the consumer’s credit

or debit card or payment account with a third party as part of the
automatic renewal plan or arrangement, and that the amount of the

charge may change, if that is the case, and the amount to which the

charge will change, if known (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17601(b)(3));

. The length of the automatic renewal term or that the service is

continuous, unless the length of the term is chosen by the consumer

(Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17601(b)(4)); and

. The minimum purchase obligation, if any. (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code

§17601(b)(5))

Additionally, the ARL defines “clear and conspicuous” to mean “in

larger type than the surrounding text, or in contrasting type, font, or color to the
surrounding text of the same size, or set off from the surrounding text of the same size
by symbols or other marks, in a manner that clearly calls attention to the language. In
the case of an audio disclosure, ‘clear and conspicuous’ and ‘clearly and
conspicuously’ means in a volume and cadence sufficient to be readily audible and

understandable.” Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17601(c).
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23.  Upon entering Defendant’s homepage, consumers can subscribe to
Defendant’s video editing software products by selecting the “Video Creativity”
button in the upper-left hand corner. Additionally, there is a scrolling banner which
offers subscriptions to a variety of Defendant’s Products, including Filmora. See
image below.

W

wondershare

VideoCreativity v  Diagram & Graphics v PDFSolutions v DataManagement v Explore Al Business Shop Support

SGNIN |

ey X Al

Explore More Video Solutions from Wondershare

A high-speed converter for thousands
of media formats

3 share

7 \Vonder
Videap

A mobile video editor with tons of cool
effects

A high-efficiency tutorial video maker
for educators, mark d gamers.

o Tryitfree

Wondershare
(4

DVD Creator

All the tools you need to make your

own DVDs.

" Wondersl'ware - W'ondershare W'ondelﬁhave - W9ndershare
' Creative Center 2 Filmora Filmstock 2 Filmora
All your creative tools are in one An intuitive video editor for every skill e library of royalty-free video A mobile app for editing, sharing, and
place effects, photos, clips, and more. recording videos
Wongcrsharc ‘Wondershare ,5~‘ Wondcrsharg Wongorsharc
UniConverter DemoCreator DemoAir Anireel

An easy screen recording add-on for
Google Chrome.

Tyittree NEEDT

Easy way to create riveting animated
explainer videos.

o Tryitfree

Wondershare
AniSmall
Your powerful video compressor
without losing quality.

24.  Consumers are then directed to a page where they can choose between
various products offered by Defendant.

25. Itis only at the “Pay Now” screen that consumers are presented with the
Terms of Service. Additionally, Defendant does not present all of the requisite,
material auto-renewal terms to its subscribers prior to enrollment in a clear and
conspicuous manner, as required. The terms are not “in larger type than the

surrounding text, or in contrasting type, font, or color to the surrounding text of the
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same size, or set off from the surrounding text of the same size by symbols or other
marks, in a manner that clearly calls attention to the language.” Cal. Bus. & Prof.
Code §17601(c).

26. Instead, the terms are presented in small script, which is a similar color
to the background. Similarly, the terms themselves are not presented, but rather only
a hyperlink is presented. A consumer still must notice the hyperlink, and then follow

it. See below image.

Order summary = - I

Product/Service Quantity Price

Credit Card
$59.99 / yea T @ e n £33 OB

Billing Information

United States of America s Florida

Effects & Plug- $0.00

Card Information

X Download Insurance Service $495

27. Therefore, Defendant has violated California’s ARL by failing to
provide the automatic renewal offer terms in a clear and conspicuous manner.

B. Defendant Has Violated California’s ARL by Failing to Obtain

Affirmative Consent from Users Prior to Enrollment

28. California’s ARL requires that Defendant must obtain affirmative

consent to the agreement containing the automatic renewal offer terms prior to

_7-

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT




O 0 9 O N A~ W N =

[\ T NG T NG T N0 T NG T N T N T N N N T S g e e e e -
o N N »n B~ W NN = ©O VW 0O N N N R W D = O

Case 2:24-cv-01314 Document 1 Filed 02/16/24 Page 9 of 34 Page ID #:9

charging the consumer’s banking institution, credit card or debit card. Cal. Bus. &
Prof. Code § 17602(a)(2).

29. Defendant fails to obtain affirmative consent from consumers prior to
charging them as Defendant does not clearly outline the renewal offer terms, as
described above. Additionally, Defendant does not clarify to consumers that they are
enrolling in an automatically recurring subscription. Instead, Defendant only vaguely
states that the offer costs “$59.99/year.” Furthering the deceptive act, Defendant
provides some language about recurring billing with respect to the “Effects &
Plugins™ charge, but fails to include the same for the Filmora subscription plan. See

below image.

> @ Fillin the payment information

Order summary = - N

Product/Service Quantity Price

o
Credit Card ~

x B3 $59.99 / yea )"‘7‘ e e B P =T PayPal GPay

Filmora Cross-platform Annual Plan $69.50 {yesr ——

Billing Information

United States of America S Florida Y

Effects &Plug-ins $0.00

Card Information

X Download Insurance Service $495

S §7494
g e
Total $64.94

30. Therefore, as consumers are not made aware of the automatically
recurring nature of the subscription, nor presented with the relevant automatic renewal
offer terms, Defendant has violated California’s ARL by failing to obtain affirmative

consent prior to enrollment. As a result, Plaintiff and other users have suffered injury
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in fact, as they would not have enrolled had they known they were signing up for an
automatically renewing subscription.

C. Defendant Has Violated California’s ARL by Failing to Provide an

Appropriate Transaction Acknowledgement

31. California’s ARL requires that Defendant must provide customers with
an acknowledgement, including the automatic renewal or continuous offer terms,
cancellation policy, and clear, consumer-friendly cancellation information. Cal. Bus.
& Prof. Code § 17602(a)(3).

32. Defendant, however, does not send a post-transaction acknowledgement.
Instead, after signing up, Defendant only sends a receipt detailing the product
purchased. Nowhere in this email does Defendant provide the automatic renewal offer
terms, cancellation policy, or a clear, consumer-friendly cancellation method. See

below.

9.
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f you have problems viewing this email, please click here

W Cratadty Smplifed!

wondershare

From Wondershare: Order Ref+iNEES

- Your Registration Information

Hello,

Thank you for your purchase
Here is the information you need to register your Wondershare product:

Your order details

order detail:
.
Download Insurance Service

24 months warranty

App Access

Effects & Plug-ins

Individual Monthly Plan, including Filmstock Standard, Al
Portrait, NewBlue FX, and Boris FX.

App Access

App Access

Boris Code

Filmstock Standard Subscription
\Wondershare Filmora

Individual 1 Year Plan

App Access
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To retrieve or reset your password, please visit

hitps://accounis wondershare.com/web/change-password.

Download Insurance Service

Download Link:http://www.download-insurance.com
Al Portrait

Download Link:https:/filmora.wondershare.com
NewBlue FX

Download Link:https://filmora.wondershare com
Boris FX

Download Link:https://filmora. wondershare. com

Filmstock Standard Subscription

Download Link:https://download. wondershare.com/cbs down
filmora G4bit full345. exe

Wondershare Filmora

Download Link:https://download.wondershare.com/filmora full845.exe

33. Therefore, Defendant does not provide the requisite information as
required by Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17602(a)(3). The ARL specifically requires an
acknowledgement include “the automatic renewal offer terms...cancellation policy,
and information regarding how to cancel.” Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17602(a)(3).
Defendant fails to adhere to the ARL requirements. There is no information regarding
the terms of the automatic renewal, no indication that the subscription will continue

until cancelled, no information regarding the cancellation policy, and no link or other
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guidance on how a consumer may cancel their subscription. Therefore, Defendant has
violated California’s ARL for failing to provide an adequate acknowledgement.

D. Defendant Has Violated California’s ARL by Failing to Meet the

Requirements for the Cancellation Policy

34. California’s ARL requires a business that makes an automatic renewal
offer or continuous service offer “shall provide a toll-free telephone number,
electronic mail address, a postal address, if the seller bills directly to the consumers,
or it shall provide another cost-effective, timely, and easy-to-use mechanism for
cancellation that shall be described in the acknowledgement.” Cal. Bus. & Prof.
Code § 17602(c).

35. Additionally, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17602(d)(1)(A)-(B) states a
business which allows a consumer to accept an automatic renewal or continuous
service offer online shall allow a consumer to terminate the automatic renewal or
continuous service exclusively online, at will, and without engaging in further steps
that obstruct or delay the ability to terminate the automatic renewal or continuous
service immediately. The business shall provide a method of termination online in
the form of either:

a. A prominently located direct link or button which may be located
within either a customer account or profile, or within either device
or user settings; or

b. By an immediately accessible termination email formatted and
provided by the business that a consumer can send to the business
without additional information.

36. Defendant does not provide a termination email, a prominently located
link or button, nor an easy-to-use mechanism. Instead, Defendant requires

consumers go through a multi-step process to cancel their account.
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37. First, consumers are required to go to their profile, and navigate to

“Manage Subscription” tab and click the “Cancel Subscription” button, which is

written in small, lightly colored script in the bottom right corner of the tab. See

below image.

Account Center

Overview

@ Plan & Products

Manage Products

Redeem Membership

] My Order

Order History

Pending Orders

2 Account
3 Special Offer

2 Manaae Team

Effects & Plug-ins

Plan Information
P Wondershare

Filmora = Including Filmstock Standard, Al Portrait, Newblue FX,
9
and Boris FX.
Wondershare 2023-4-3 - 2023-4-10
Filmstock

[

Billing Information

2023-4-10

USD 24.56/Month
Price: USD 20.99

Taxes: USD 3.57

38.  Next consumers must pass through a confirmation screen where the

primary action button is “Don’t Cancel.” See below image.
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Cancel Plan

we are sorry to see you go.
Details
@ 4 You have used Effects & Plug-ins for

Cancelling subscription means you will lose...

Advanced Q Advanced O
Features Services

Don't Cancel

Continue >

39. Consumers must then provide a reason for their cancellation, or choose
“Other” in which case they are required to write out their reason for cancellation.

See image below.

X
CancelElay Why do you want to cancel subscription?
Details
ook The program doesn't meet my needs.(please specify)
I'm having technical issues. (please specify).
Too exp:
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40. Consumers are then required to either accept or decline an offer to chat

with Customer Service. See image below.

st Before you go, consider these alternatives.

Details
Feedback
offer Customer Service @

Get 1-to-1 with support

Chat Now

41. Consumers are then required to confirm their cancellation choice again.

See image below.

X
Cancel Plan H H H
Cancellation details include
° Details v
¢ Deductions
No more deductions next period
e Feedback
¢ Limited Access
e Offer After the plan expires, you no longer have access to your applications or most of the services included in
your paid plan.
° Review
¢ Plan Date
Access to your current plan will end after the expiration date.
l Confirm I | Don't Cancel

42.  Only after this fifth step are consumers allowed to cancel their

subscription.
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43. Defendant’s cancellation policy is not the “easy-to-use” mechanism
contemplated by the ARL. Rather, it is a multi-step process. Furthermore,
Defendant does not present the cancellation button in an easily recognized form.
Instead, Defendant requires diligent searching by a user before they are even able to
identify where they must go to cancel their automatically renewing subscription.
Additionally, the cancellation method is not described in the acknowledgement, as
required by Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17602(c).

44.  Therefore, Defendant has violated California’s ARL for failing to
provide an adequate acknowledgement describing the cancellation method, and
providing an easy-to-use cancellation method as required by Cal. Bus & Prof. Code
§ 17602 et seq. Thus, Plaintiff and other consumers purchasing the Products have
suffered injury in fact and lost money as a result of Defendant’s false and deceptive

practices, as described herein.
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

45.  Asalleged throughout this Complaint, the Class claims all derive directly
from a single course of conduct by Defendant. Defendant has engaged in uniform and
standardized conduct toward the Class — its marketing and billing tactics — and this
case is about the responsibility of Defendant, at law and in equity, for its knowledge
and conduct in deceiving its customers. This conduct did not meaningfully
differentiate among individual Class members in its degree of care or candor, its
action or inactions, or in the content of its statements or omissions. The objective facts
on these subjects are the same for all Class members.

46. Plaintiff brings this class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 and all
other applicable laws and rules, individually, and on behalf of all members of the

following Class:
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California Class

All Defendant’s customers in the State of California who were automatically
enrolled in the Products and were charged at least one renewal fee by
Defendant, within the governing statute of limitations period.

47. Excluded from the Class are the following individuals and/or entities:
Defendant and its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, officers and directors, current or
former employees, and any entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest; all
individuals who make a timely election to be excluded from this proceeding using the
correct protocol for opting out; and all judges assigned to hear any aspect of this
litigation, as well as their immediate family members.

48.  Plaintiff reserves the right to modify or amend the definition of the
proposed Class and/or add subclasses before the Court determines whether
certification is appropriate.

49. Numerosity: The proposed Class is so numerous that joinder of all
members would be impractical. The number of individuals who purchased the
Products’ subscriptions during the relevant time period is at least in the thousands.
Accordingly, Class members are so numerous that their individual joinder herein is
impractical. While the precise number of Class members and their identities are
unknown to Plaintiff at this time, these Class members are identifiable and
ascertainable.

50. Common Questions Predominate: There are questions of law and fact

common to the proposed Class that will drive the resolution of this action and will

predominate over questions affecting only individual Class members. These questions
include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. Whether Defendant misrepresented material facts and/or failed to

disclose material facts in connection with their auto-renewal charging

plan;
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b. Whether Defendant’s conduct constitutes unfair, unlawful, and/or
fraudulent practices prohibited by the laws of California;

c. Whether Defendant’s unlawful conduct, as alleged herein, was
intentional and knowing;

d. Whether Defendant was unjustly enriched as a result of its conduct;

e. Whether Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to damages and/or
restitution, and in what amount;

f. Whether Defendant is likely to continue using false, misleading or
unlawful conduct such that an injunction is necessary; and

g. Whether Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award of reasonable
attorneys’ fees, interest, and costs of suit.

51. Defendant has engaged in a common course of conduct giving rise to
violations of the legal rights sought to be enforced uniformly by Plaintiff and Class
members. Similar or identical statutory and common law violations, business
practices, and injuries are involved. The injuries sustained by members of the
proposed Class flows, in each instance, from a common nucleus of operative fact;
namely, Defendant’s failure to adequately disclose the automatic-renewal nature of
their customers’ enrollment, and failure to abide by the requirements set forth in
California’s ARL. Each instance of harm suffered by Plaintiff and Class members has
directly resulted from a single course of illegal conduct. Therefore, individual
questions, if any, pale in comparison to the numerous common questions presented in
this action.

52.  Superiority: Because of the relatively small amount of damages at issue
for each individual Class member, no Class member could afford to seek legal redress
on an individual basis. Furthermore, individualized litigation increases the delay and
expense to all parties and multiplies the burden on the judicial system presented by

the complex legal and factual issues of this case. Individualized litigation also presents

-18-

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT




O 0 9 O N A~ W N =

[\ T NG T NG T N0 T NG T N T N T N N N T S g e e e e -
o N N »n B~ W NN = ©O VW 0O N N N R W D = O

Jase 2:24-cv-01314 Document 1 Filed 02/16/24 Page 20 of 34 Page ID #:20

a potential for inconsistent or contradictory judgments. A class action is superior to
any alternative means of prosecution.

53. Typicality: The representative Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of
the proposed Class, as all members of the proposed Class are similarly affected by
Defendant’s uniform unlawful conduct as alleged herein, including but not limited to
being subject to the same or similar marketing, enrollment and billing practices
engineered by Defendant. Further, Plaintiff and members of the Class sustained
substantially the same injuries and damages arising out of Defendant’s conduct.

54.  Adequacy: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the
proposed Class as her interests do not conflict with the interests of the members of
the proposed Class she seeks to represent, and she has retained counsel competent and
experienced in class action litigation. Thus, the interests of the members of the Class
will be fairly and adequately protected by Plaintiff and her counsel.

55. Defendant has also acted, or failed to act, on grounds generally
applicable to Plaintiff and the proposed Class, supporting the imposition of uniform

relief to ensure compatible standards of conduct toward the members of the Class.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of California’s Consumers Legal Remedies Act
California Civil Code § 1750, ef seq.
(for the California Class)

56. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-55 above as if
fully set forth herein.

57.  Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of
the proposed California Class, against Defendant pursuant to California’s Consumers
Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), Cal. Civ. Code § 1750, et seq. The CLRA prohibits
“unfair or deceptive acts or practices...undertaken by any person in a transaction
intended to result or that results in the sale or lease of goods or services to any

consumer.” Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(a).
-19-
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58.  Plaintiff and the Class members are “consumers” within the meaning of
Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(d) in that Plaintiff and the Class members sought or acquired
by purchase Defendant’s Products for personal, family, or household purposes.

59. Defendant’s offers constitute “goods or services” within the meaning of
Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(a) and (b).

60. The purchases by Plaintiff and Class Members are “transactions” within
the meaning of Cal. Civ. Code § 1761(e).

61. Defendant has violated Cal. Civ. Code § 1770, subdivisions (a)(5), (a)(9),
(a)(14), and (a)(16) by, inter alia, representing that Defendant’s goods and services
have certain characteristics that they do not have; advertising goods and services with
the intent not to sell them as advertised; representing that a transaction confers or
involves rights, remedies, or obligations that it does not have or involve, or that are
prohibited by law; and representing that the subject of a transaction has been supplied
in accordance with a previous representation when it has not.

62.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s violations of the CLRA,
Plaintiff and the California Class were wrongfully charged fees by Defendant.

63. Defendant’s conduct alleged herein was undertaken by Defendant
knowingly, willfully, and with oppression, fraud, and/or malice, within the meaning of
Cal. Civ. Code § 3294(c).

64. Plaintiff has standing to pursue these claims because she has suffered
injury in fact and a loss of money as a result of the wrongful conduct alleged herein.
Plaintiff would not have enrolled in Defendant’s monthly subscription had she known
the truth. Plaintiff saw and relied upon Defendant’s misleading representations and
omissions, as detailed above. Class-wide reliance can be inferred because Defendant’s
misrepresentations and omissions were material, i.e., a reasonable consumer would
consider them important in deciding whether to subscribe to Defendant’s Products.

65. On about August 15, 2023, Plaintiff provided written notice pursuant to
§ 1782 of the CLRA, on behalf of herself and the Class. Defendant failed to rectify or

220-

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT




O 0 9 O N A~ W N =

[\ T NG T NG T N0 T NG T N T N T N N N T S g e e e e -
o N N »n B~ W NN = ©O VW 0O N N N R W D = O

Jase 2:24-cv-01314 Document 1 Filed 02/16/24 Page 22 of 34 Page ID #:22

agree to rectify the unlawful acts detailed above within 30 days, thus Plaintiff and the
Class are entitled to actual, punitive, and statutory damages, as appropriate, as well as
any other remedies the Court may deem appropriate under Cal. Civ. Code §1750 et
seq.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of California’s False Advertising Law

California Business & Professions Code § 17500, et seq
(for the California Class)

66.  Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-55 above as if
fully set forth herein.

67.  Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of
the proposed California Class, against Defendant pursuant to California’s False
Advertising Law (“FAL”) Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500, ef seq.

68.  As part of California’s FAL, the ARL, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17600,
et seq., became effective on December 1, 2010.

69. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17600, et seq., declares unlawful “the practice
of ongoing charging of consumer credit or debit cards or third party payment accounts
without the consumers’ explicit consent for ongoing shipments of a product or
ongoing deliveries of service.” Defendant’s conduct as alleged in this Complaint
violates Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17602 because each of the following practices
Defendant has engaged in is an independent violation of the Automatic Purchase
Renewal Statute:

a. Defendant failed to present the terms of its automatic renewal or
continuous service offer in a clear and conspicuous manner before
fulfilling the subscription and in visual proximity to the request for
consent to the offer, as required by Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §
17602(a)(1);

b. Defendant charges Plaintiff’s and the Class’s credit card or debit card,

or the consumer’s account with a third party, for an automatic renewal
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or continuous service without first obtaining the consumer’s
affirmative consent to the agreement containing the automatic
renewal offer terms or continuous offer terms, as required by Cal.
Bus. & Prof. Code § 17602(a)(2);

Defendant failed to provide a post-transaction acknowledgement
including the automatic renewal or continuous offer terms,
cancellation policy, and clear, consumer-friendly cancellation
information. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17602(a)(3);

Defendant failed to provide a toll-free telephone number, electronic
mail address, a postal address or other cost-effective, timely, and easy-
to-use mechanism for cancellation as described in Cal. Bus. & Prof.
Code § 17602(a)(3), as required by Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §
17602(b).

Defendant failed to provide a method for cancellation without
engaging in further steps that obstruct or delay the ability to terminate
the automatic renewal or continuous service immediately as required

by Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17602(d)(1)(A)-(B).

70.  As a result of Defendant’s misconduct pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof.

Code § 17603, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to restitution of all amounts that

Defendant charged or caused to be charged to Plaintiff’s and Class members’ credit

cards, debit cards, or third-party payment accounts during the applicable statute of

limitations and continuing until Defendant’s statutory violations cease.

71.  As a result of Defendant’s misconduct pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof.

Code § 17535, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an injunction:

a.

Enjoining Defendant from making automatic renewal offers that do
not comply with California law;
Enjoining Defendant from making charges to credit cards, debit

cards, or third-party payment accounts without prior affirmative
20
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consent to an agreement containing “clear and conspicuous”
disclosures of automatic renewal or continuous service offer terms;

c. Enjoining Defendant from making automatic renewal offers that fail
to provide an acknowledgment that includes a ‘“clear and
conspicuous” disclosure of automatic renewal or continuous service
offer terms, cancellation policy, and information regarding how to
cancel in a manner that is capable of being retained by the consumer;
and,

d. Enjoining Defendant from making automatic renewal offers that fail
to provide an online, easy-to-use mechanism for cancellation.

72.  Defendant’s actions in violation of §§ 17500 & 17600 et seq., as described
herein, were false and misleading such that the general public is and was likely to be
deceived. Plaintiff and members of the California Class were deceived and relied on
Defendant’s statements and omissions to their detriment when they signed up for
Defendant’s Products and were subsequently automatically enrolled in Defendant’s
auto-recurring subscription, and there is a strong probability that other California
consumers and members of the public were also or are likely to be deceived as well.
Any reasonable consumer would be misled by Defendant’s false and misleading
statements and material omissions. Plaintiff and members of the California Class did
not learn of Defendant’s cancellation and automatic payment policies until after they
had already signed up and were forced into paying for Defendant’s services.

73.  Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17535, this Court has the power to
award such equitable relief, including but not limited to, an order declaring
Defendant’s auto-renewal practices to be unlawful, an order enjoining Defendant
from engaging in any such further unlawful conduct, and an order directing Defendant
to refund to the Plaintiff and the Class all monthly fees wrongfully assessed and/or

collected on its auto-renew subscription plan
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”),

California Business & Professions Code § 17200, et segq.
(for the California Class)

74.  Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-55 above as if
fully set forth herein.

75.  Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of
the proposed California Class against Defendant pursuant to California’s Unfair
Competition Law (“UCL”), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, ef seq.

76.  The UCL prohibits acts of “unfair competition,” including any unlawful
and unfair business acts or practices.

77. The UCL, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, provides, in pertinent part,
that “unfair competition shall mean and include unlawful, unfair or fraudulent
business practices and unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising . . .”

78.  Under the UCL, a business act or practice is “unlawful” if it violates any
established state or federal law. Defendant committed unlawful practices because it
violated Cal. Bus. And Prof. Code § 17600, et seq., California’s ARL, which declares
unlawful “the practice of ongoing charging of consumer credit or debit cards or third
party payment accounts without the consumers’ explicit consent for ongoing
shipments of a product or ongoing deliveries of a service.” Defendant’s conduct as
alleged in this Complaint violates Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17602 because each of
the following practices is an independent violation of the ARL:

a. Defendant failed to present the terms of its automatic renewal or
continuous service offer in a clear and conspicuous manner before
fulfilling the subscription and in visual proximity to the request for
consent to the offer, as required by Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §
17602(a)(1);

b. Defendant charges Plaintiff’s and the Class’s credit card or debit

cards, or the consumer’s account with a third party, for an automatic
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renewal or continuous service without first obtaining the consumer’s
affirmative consent to the agreement containing the automatic
renewal offer terms or continuous offer terms, as required by Cal.
Bus. & Prof. Code § 17602(a)(2);

c. Defendant failed to provide a post-transaction acknowledgement
including the automatic renewal or continuous offer terms,
cancellation policy, and clear, consumer-friendly cancellation
information. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17602(a)(3);

d. Defendant failed to provide a toll-free telephone number, electronic
mail address, a postal address or other cost-effective, timely, and easy-
to-use mechanism for cancellation as described in Cal. Bus. & Prof.
Code § 17602(a)(3), as required by Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §
17602(b).

e. Defendant failed to provide a method for cancellation without
engaging in further steps that obstruct or delay the ability to terminate
the automatic renewal or continuous service immediately as required
by Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17602(d)(1)(A)-(B).

79.  Under the UCL, a business act or practice is “unfair” if the defendant’s
conduct is substantially injurious to consumers, offends public policy, and i1s immoral,
unethical, oppressive, and unscrupulous, as the benefits for committing such acts or
practices are outweighed by the gravity of the harm to the alleged victims.
Defendant’s conduct was and continues to be of no benefit to purchasers of the
Product, as it is misleading, unfair, unlawful, and is injurious to consumers who rely
on the Product’s advertising. Deceiving consumers as to the automatic enrollment in
Defendant’s Products 1s of no benefit to consumers. Therefore, Defendant’s conduct
was and continues to be “unfair.” As a result of Defendant’s unfair business acts and
practices, Defendant has and continues to unfairly obtain money from Plaintiff and

members of the Class.
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80. Under the UCL, a business act or practice is “fraudulent” if it actually
deceives or is likely to deceive members of the consuming public. Defendant’s
conduct here was and continues to be fraudulent because it has the effect of deceiving
consumers into believing that the Product is not an automatically enrolling
subscription. Because Defendant misled Plaintiff and members of the California
Class, Defendant’s conduct was “fraudulent.”

81. Defendant’s acts and omissions as alleged herein violate obligations
imposed by statute, are substantially injurious to consumers, offend public policy, and
are immoral, unethical, oppressive, and unscrupulous as the gravity of the conduct
outweighs any alleged benefits attributable to such conduct.

82. There were reasonably available alternatives to further Defendant’s
legitimate business interest, other than the conduct described herein. As a result of
Defendant’s fraudulent business acts and practices, Defendant has and continues to
fraudulently obtain money from Plaintiff and members of the California Class.

83.  Plaintiff requests that this Court cause Defendant to restore this
unlawfully, unfairly, and fraudulently obtained money to her, and members of the
California Class, to disgorge the profits Defendant made on these transactions, and to
enjoin Defendant from violating the UCL or violating it in the same fashion in the
future as discussed herein. Otherwise, Plaintiff and members of the California Class
may be irreparably harmed and/or denied an effective and complete remedy if such

an order is not granted.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Quasi Contract/Unjust Enrichment/Restitution
(for the California Class)

84. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-55 above as if
fully set forth herein.
85.  Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of

the proposed California Class against Defendant.
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86. As alleged herein, Defendant has intentionally and recklessly made
misleading representations to Plaintiff and members of the California Class, to induce
them to subscribe to the Products. Plaintiff and members of the California Class have
reasonably relied on Defendant’s misleading representations and been deceived as a
result. Plaintiff and members of the California Class have been induced by
Defendant’s misleading and deceptive representations about the subscriptions and
paid money to Defendant for these subscriptions that they would have not paid.

87.  Plaintiff and members of the California Class have conferred a benefit
upon Defendant, as Defendant has retained monies paid to it by Plaintiff and members
of the California Class.

88.  The monies received were obtained under circumstances that were at the
expense of Plaintiff and members of the California Class —i.e., Plaintiff and members
of the California Class did not receive full and adequate disclosure as to the nature of
the automatic enrollment subscription plan.

89.  Therefore, it is inequitable and unjust for Defendant to retain the profit,
benefit, or compensation conferred upon them without paying Plaintiff and the
members of the California Class back for cost of the deceptive and unjust enrollment.

90. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unjust enrichment,
Plaintiff and members of the California Class are entitled to restitution, disgorgement,
and/or the imposition of a constructive trust upon all profits, benefits, and other
compensation obtained by Defendant from its deceptive, misleading, and unlawful

conduct as alleged herein.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of the Electronic Funds Transfer Act (“EFTA”), 15 U.S.C. §
1693 et seq.
(for the California Class)

91. Plaintiff repeats the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-55 above as if

fully set forth herein.

7.
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92.  Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of
the proposed California Class against Defendant pursuant to the Electronic Funds
Transfer Act (“EFTA™), 15 U.S.C. 1693 et seq.

93. The EFTA provides a framework establishing the rights, liabilities, and
responsibilities of participants in an electronic fund transfer system. 15 U.S.C. §§
1693 et seq. The “primary objective” of the EFTA is “the provision of individual
consumer rights.” Id. § 1693(b).

94.  Any waiver of EFTA rights is void. “No writing or other agreement
between a consumer and any other person may contain any provision which
constitutes a waiver of any right conferred or cause of action created by this
subchapter.” 15 U.S.C. § 1693l.

95.  Defendant’s transfers of money from the bank accounts of Plaintiff and
members of the California Class, as alleged herein, are “electronic fund transfers”
within the meaning of the EFTA and the EFTA’s implemented regulations, known as
Regulation E and codified at 12 C.F.R. §§ 205 ef seq. An “electronic fund transfer”
means “any transfer of funds, other than a transaction originated by check, draft, or
similar paper instrument, which is initiated through an electronic terminal, telephonic
instrument, or computer or magnetic tape so as to order, instruct, or authorize a
financial institution to debit or credit an account.” 15 U.S.C. § 205.3(b)(v).

96. The EFTA defines the term “preauthorized electronic transfer” as “an
electronic fund transfer authorized in advance to recur at substantially regular
intervals.” 15 U.S.C. § 1693a(9). The Official Staff Interpretation of Regulation E
describes a “preauthorized electronic transfer” as “one authorized by the consumer in
advance of a transfer that will take place on a recurring basis, at substantially regular
intervals, and will require no further action by the consumer to initiate the transfer.”
12 C.F.R. Part 205, Supp. I, § 205.2(k), cmt. 1.

97. Section 1693e(a) of the EFTA prohibits preauthorized electronic

transfers without written authorization: “A preauthorized electronic fund transfer
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from a consumer’s account may be authorized by the consumer only in writing, and a
copy of such authorization shall be provided to the consumer when made.” 15 U.S.C.
§ 1693e(a). Similarly, Regulation E provides: “Preauthorized electronic fund
transfers from a consumer’s account may be authorized only by a writing signed or
similarly authenticated by the consumer. The person that obtains the authorization
shall provide a copy to the consumer.” 12 C.F.R. § 205.10(b).

98. Plaintiff and members of the California Class each maintained an
“account” as that term 1s defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1693a(2) and are “consumers” within
the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1693a(5).

99. Defendant uniformly and routinely initiated preauthorized electronic
fund transfers and took money from the bank accounts of Plaintiff and members of
the California Class without obtaining written authorization for the transfers, as
required by the EFTA and Regulation E. Defendant also uniformly and routinely
failed to provide a copy of such written authorization to Plaintiff and the members of
the California Class from whose bank accounts Defendant took preauthorized
electronic fund transfers for the Products.

100. From October 2022 through March of 2023, Defendant took $20.99 from
Plaintiff’s Bank of America account via her Paypal account. In none of these
instances did Defendant obtain Plaintiff’s written authorization, nor did Defendant
provide Plaintiff with copies of any such authorizations.

101. The Official Staff Interpretation of Regulation E explains, “when a third-
party payee,” such as Defendant, “fails to obtain the authorization in writing or fails
to give a copy to the consumer...it is the third-party payee that is in violation of the
regulation.” 12 C.F.R. Part 205, Supp. I, § 205.10(b), cmt. 2.

102. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s violations of the EFTA
and Regulation E, Plaintiff has suffered damages in the amount of the unauthorized
debits taken by Defendant from her bank account. 15 U.S.C. § 1693m. As a further
direct and proximate result of Defendant’s violations of the EFTA and Regulation E,
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Plaintiff and the California Class are entitled to recover statutory damages in the

amount of “the lesser of $500,000 or 1 per centum of the net worth of the defendant.”
Id. § 1983m(a)(2)(B).

103.

Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1693m, Plaintiff and the California Class are

also entitled to recover costs of suit and attorneys’ fees from Defendant.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, respectfully

prays for the following relief:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(0
(2

Certification of this case as a class action on behalf of the Class defined
above, appointment of Plaintiff as Class representative, and appointment
of her counsel as Class counsel;

A declaration that Defendant’s actions, as described herein, violate the
claims described herein;

An award of injunctive and other equitable relief as is necessary to protect
the interests of Plaintiff and the Class, including, inter alia, an order
prohibiting Defendant from engaging in the unlawful acts described
above;

An award to Plaintiff and the proposed Class of restitution and/or other
equitable relief, including, without limitation, restitutionary
disgorgement of all profits and unjust enrichment that Defendant obtained
from Plaintiff and the proposed Class as a result of its unlawful, unfair
and fraudulent business practices described herein;

An award of all economic, monetary, actual, consequential,
compensatory, and treble damages caused by Defendant’s conduct;

An award of punitive damages;

An award to Plaintiff and her counsel of their reasonable expenses and
attorneys’ fees;

-30-
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(h) An award to Plaintiff and the proposed Class of pre and post-judgment
interest, to the extent allowable; and

(1) For such further relief that the Court may deem just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and the Class, hereby demands a jury trial with
respect to all issues triable of right by jury.

CUSTODIO & DUBEY, LLP
DATED: February 16, 2024 By: /s/ Robert Abiri

Robert Abiri (SBN 238681)
E-mail: abiri@cd-lawyers.com
445 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 2520
Los Angeles, CA 90071
Telephone: (213) 593-9095
Facsimile: (213) 785-2899

Attorney for Plaintiff and the
Putative Classes
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